

ANNUAL CONNECT

www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2019. 35:213-37

First published as a Review in Advance on August 14, 2019

The Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology is online at cellbio.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100818-125119

Copyright © 2019 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

*These authors contributed equally to this article

Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology Not Just Going with the Flow: The Effects of Fluid Flow on Bacteria and Plankton

Jeanette D. Wheeler,^{1,*} Eleonora Secchi,^{1,*} Roberto Rusconi,^{2,3} and Roman Stocker¹

¹Institute of Environmental Engineering, Department of Civil, Environmental, and Geomatic Engineering, ETH Zürich, 8093 Zürich, Switzerland; email: romanstocker@ethz.ch ²Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, 20090 Pieve Emanuele (MI), Italy ³Humanitas Clinical and Research Center–IRCCS, 20089 Rozzano (MI), Italy

Keywords

microscale, microorganisms, transport, surface colonization, chemotaxis, larval settlement

Abstract

Microorganisms often live in habitats characterized by fluid flow, from lakes and oceans to soil and the human body. Bacteria and plankton experience a broad range of flows, from the chaotic motion characteristic of turbulence to smooth flows at boundaries and in confined environments. Flow creates forces and torques that affect the movement, behavior, and spatial distribution of microorganisms and shapes the chemical landscape on which they rely for nutrient acquisition and communication. Methodological advances and closer interactions between physicists and biologists have begun to reveal the importance of flow-microorganism interactions and the adaptations of microorganisms to flow. Here we review selected examples of such interactions from bacteria, phytoplankton, larvae, and zooplankton. We hope that this article will serve as a blueprint for a more in-depth consideration of the effects of flow in the biology of microorganisms and that this discussion will stimulate further multidisciplinary effort in understanding this important component of microorganism habitats.

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	214
2. PHYSICAL EFFECTS OF FLOW ON BACTERIA AND PLANKTON	215
2.1. Vertical Migration of Phytoplankton in Flow	216
2.2. Spatial Distribution of Bacteria in Flow	220
2.3. Surface-Associated Behaviors of Bacteria in Flow	221
2.4. Dispersal and Settlement of Larvae in Flow	223
3. EFFECTS OF FLOW ON THE CHEMICAL LANDSCAPE	
EXPERIENCED BY BACTERIA AND PLANKTON	224
3.1. Quorum Sensing in Flow by Bacteria and Biofilms	226
3.2. Chemotaxis in Flow by Bacteria	227
3.3. Nutrient Uptake in Flow by Phytoplankton	228
3.4. Navigation of Turbulently Mixed Chemical Cues by Larvae	228
4. MECHANISMS OF FLOW SENSING	229
5. CONCLUDING REMARKS	231

1. INTRODUCTION

Fluid motion is a prevalent feature of the physical environments inhabited by small organisms. Almost three quarters of the planet is covered by water, and these oceans, rivers, and lakes are characterized by the constant motion of water. In soil, water slowly seeps between soil grains, small rocks, and plant roots. In the human body, fluids flow in blood vessels, the urinary tract, the gut, the eye, and the mouth. In all these habitats, fluid flow exerts important controls over both the physical and chemical landscapes from the perspective of microorganisms. From the physical point of view, flow exerts forces on microorganisms, which induce changes to their motions and distributions. From the chemical point of view, flow sweeps molecules that signal the presence of nutrients, predators, or mates toward and away from microorganisms. In the absence of flow, molecules would drift more slowly, and as such, flow can have a broad range of effects on bacteria and plankton, altering their movement, behavior, resource acquisition, and signaling and thereby influencing their metabolic functions, spatial distribution, and diversity. Nonetheless, fluid flow is rarely considered when one is interpreting the biology of small organisms in aquatic environments.

In this review, we describe how flow influences the lives of bacteria and plankton, focusing on the effects of flow on their physical and chemical environments. We consider organisms ranging from a fraction of a micrometer to thousands of micrometers in size, both planktonic (i.e., free floating or swimming) and sessile (i.e., surface attached). To illustrate the diversity of the effects of flow on small organisms, we draw from different habitats and taxa, with a primary emphasis on bacteria and secondarily plankton inhabiting aquatic environments such as oceans and lakes. We divide the review into two parts, treating how flow shapes the physical and chemical environments of bacteria and plankton. We first illustrate how fluid flow affects small organisms by exerting forces and torques on them that can profoundly change their movement and spatial distribution. For example, we show that where phytoplankton end up in the water column depends heavily on the interaction between their shape and flow, an interaction that is purely passive. In addition, we describe how fluid flow can elicit intriguing behaviors in the plankton, that is, active responses. The latter is an exciting area of research because, historically, most interactions

Torque: measure of the force that can cause an object to rotate about an axis between bacteria or plankton and flow were assumed to be purely physical consequences of the forces exerted by the flowing fluid. However, it has recently become apparent that small organisms can sense and behaviorally respond to forces from the flow, adding both richness and new challenges to the study of organism–flow interactions. We then discuss how flow affects small organisms by altering their chemical landscape, including the distribution of resources, oxygen, and signaling molecules. We emphasize that we cannot here present either a complete review of the interactions of microorganisms with flow or a full treatment of the fluid mechanics involved. Instead, we offer a nontechnical and hopefully intuitive introduction to the effects of fluid flow on small organisms and their physical and chemical environment, illustrating recent progress in this field and highlighting promising avenues for future research.

2. PHYSICAL EFFECTS OF FLOW ON BACTERIA AND PLANKTON

Fluid flow takes on different forms in the wide range of environments inhabited by bacteria and plankton. In small liquid volumes, flow is often regular and organized, or laminar, such as in the transport systems of hosts; examples are water moving slowly through the roots of plants and human blood in capillaries. In aquatic systems, flow is often turbulent and easily observable at human scales but drives motion and creates forces down to the scales relevant to microorganisms, here referred to as the microscale. In soil, water motion through the pores between grains is again laminar but highly geometrically complex. In many compartments of the human body, such as the gut, urinary tract, and eye, liquids are in motion. In bioreactors, liquids are actively stirred, again leading to turbulent flow. In all these systems, flow can affect both the transport and physiology of the resident small organisms, and these can respond to flow with phenotypic and behavioral changes.

The appearance and effects of flow change dramatically as one moves from the human scale, at which our intuition is trained, to the microscale, at which microorganisms experience flow. Turbulent flow, for example, is often created at larger scales by some external forcing, such as wind and waves in aquatic systems and active pumping (e.g., pulsative or peristaltic motion) in the human body. An organism at large scales experiences this fluid flow as an intermittent, chaotic motion, such as when a fallen surfer is knocked about in a large wave, encountering rapid changes in flow speed and direction. However, to a smaller organism, this fluid motion appears slower and smoother, as the organism is embedded within a single whirl of the flow. For instance, a wave that knocks a surfer around (Figure 1a, subpanel i) will carry a small marine larva or bacterium much more smoothly, as the microorganisms are not large enough to be caught and tossed by the churning water (Figure 1a, subpanels *ii,iii*). They instead primarily experience turbulence as a fluid velocity that—at their scale—changes smoothly in space, here referred to as a shear flow (Figure 1a, subpanel iii). A shear flow occurs when different fluid volumes flow past each other at different velocities, such as in the case of a layer of warm surface water flowing on top of a layer of colder deeper water (Figure 1b). Shear flows also develop when a moving fluid encounters a solid surface: In this case, the speed of the fluid gradually decreases so that its velocity in contact with the surface is zero (for an immobile surface). Surface shear flows affect the organisms moving near or living on those surfaces (Figure 1c,d and Figure 2b, subpanels iii-v).

Shear is an important concept in the interaction of flow and small organisms: The fact that the velocity is different at different locations results in a torque that constantly rotates organisms (Figure 2*a*, subpanel *i* and Figure 2*b*, subpanels *i–iv*). This, as we present below, affects a host of processes from motility to attachment, which we illustrate using examples covering the interactions of bacteria, phytoplankton, and larvae with flow. Most of these examples (summarized in Table 1*a*) constitute passive responses to flow: For instance, cell shape in bacteria and plankton species can lead to accumulation in high-shear regions. In this manner, organisms can end up in

Laminar flow: a flow in which fluid parcels move following regular paths, often in parallel layers. This type of flow is common for viscous fluids (like oil or mucus) and for aqueous fluids at very small scales

Turbulent flow:

a highly disordered flow that is characterized by motion at many different scales and is variable in time and space. It typically results in rapid stirring and mixing

Shear flow: a flow in which the speed of the fluid varies between neighboring fluid parcels. Laminar flows in a conduit or close to a surface constitute examples of shear flow. Turbulent flow at the smallest scales is also a shear flow



Figure 1

Types of flow experienced by bacteria and plankton in aquatic environments. (*a*) Turbulent flow. (*i*) At the scale of humans or fish, aquatic turbulence is experienced as a set of interacting whirls of different sizes; these whirls cause rapid changes in the direction and speed of flow. (*ii*) At the scale of zooplankton and larvae, turbulence is experienced as a smoother rotation, although sometimes also as strong shear, as organisms are approximately the size of the smallest whirls. (*iii*) At the scale of phytoplankton and bacteria, turbulence is experienced as a smooth change in flow speed over space, as these organisms are smaller than the smallest whirls. (*b*) Shear flow can occur in open water as different layers of water move past each other. Flow speed changes smoothly over space and can even change direction entirely. (*c*) Shear flows also occur near solid surfaces because water slows close to a surface. In all these cases, shear is felt right down to the scale of the smallest organisms, as shown in the inset. (*d*) Flows become more complex near rough bottom surfaces, causing changes in flow speed and direction.

specific regions of the flow without any active, behavioral response to the flow. The ecological outcome of these passive flow–organism interactions can be either positive or negative for the organisms, as we explore below. Additionally, some phytoplankton and many larvae also actively respond to flow (**Table 1***b*) and exploit flow conditions via behavioral responses to enhance transport and survival.

2.1. Vertical Migration of Phytoplankton in Flow

Persistent shear flows occur frequently in aquatic systems due to layering of water masses, proximity of flows to surfaces, and other physical drivers. The interactions of phytoplankton with shear flows have long interested oceanographers because they can affect the spatial distribution and competitive advantage of different phytoplankton species. Vertical swimming is a common behavior of motile plankton in aquatic systems, with many species making daily journeys between the surface and depth. Daily migration, often covering many meters or even tens of meters, allows photosynthetic phytoplankton to reside in well-lit surface waters during the day and to return to nutrient-rich depths at night (**Figure 2***a*, **subpanels** *i*,*ii*). On this vertical journey, the phytoplankton encounter flow, which can affect their migration in surprising ways that have been only recently understood. The body shape of swimming phytoplankton affects how they are impacted by shear flows. Many motile phytoplankton have evolved to be bottom heavy (Roberts 1970), resulting from either pear-shaped morphologies (**Figure 2***a*, **subpanel***i*) or a higher density of organelles located at one end of the cell (e.g., the starch-rich chloroplasts). Many such phytoplankton swim by pulling or pushing themselves through the water, and the density asymmetry is a way to passively orient in their preferred, vertical swimming direction. For example, for upward migration, the wider end of a pear-shaped cell tends to fall below the narrower end of the cell, acting as a ballast to stabilize the organism in the vertical direction. This body asymmetry ultimately gives the cell an energyefficient way to preserve the upward swimming direction in still water conditions. However, it confers a potential disadvantage when cells encounter shear flows, for example, due to ocean currents, which preferentially move along the horizontal direction. When an upward-moving cell enters a region of high shear, the change in flow velocity with height begins to tip the cell over,



(Caption appears on following page)

Figure 2 (Figure appears on preceding page)

Physical effects of flow on bacteria and plankton. (a) Effects of flow on vertically migrating phytoplankton. (i) Upward-swimming phytoplankton encountering regions of high shear are rotated by fluid torques that deflect their intended swimming paths and trap them in thin layers in the water column. (ii) Upon encountering patches of strong turbulence during upward migration, some phytoplankton (e.g., Heterosigma akashiwo) can rapidly change shape to induce a change in swimming direction, allowing them to escape damaging and stressful turbulent conditions. (b) Effects of shear on bacteria in the water column and on surfaces. (i) In regions of shear, the torque from the shear rotates microorganisms as they are transported by the flow. (ii) Due to this mechanism, microorganisms move along periodic trajectories, termed Jeffery orbits. (iii) When cells use flagella to swim in the proximity of a surface, shear can orient the cells against the flow, causing cells to migrate upstream by swimming. (iv) With a similar mechanism, cells can migrate upstream by moving on a surface using pili. (v) Shear brings the piliated pole of curved stalked bacteria closer to the surface, increasing the attachment rate of the daughter cell after division. (c) Turbulence creates patchiness in the distribution of motile microorganisms. A numerical simulation of turbulent flow (background color denotes turbulence intensity) shows how simulated swimming phytoplankton (black dots) become trapped in regions of intermittent strong shear. Panel c adapted from De Lillo et al. (2014). (d) The effects of flow can be used to sort cells on the basis of motility, in this case for human sperm cells. Only motile sperm cells can reach the trap structure within a microfluidic channel by performing upstream swimming, and this principle can be used to sort these cells by motility. Panel d adapted from Zaferani et al. (2018). (e) Flow can lead to segregation within bacterial biofilms. In confined flow, weakly adhesive mutants of Pseudomonas aeruginosa (red) occupy locations protected from flow due to local clogging by the biofilms formed by strongly adhesive wild-type P. aeruginosa (green). Panel e adapted from Nadell et al. (2017). (f) Flow can lead to segregation on the basis of colonization ability. Surface colonization of a flow network by two bacterial species with different surface motility: Upstream twitching permits *P. aeruginosa* (green) to colonize all the branches of the flow network, whereas *Proteus mirabilis (red)* colonizes only the branch in which it is injected. Panel f adapted from Sirvaporn et al. (2015).

away from its stable orientation (Durham & Stocker 2012, Durham et al. 2009). The cell is thus rotated by a fluid torque, and its path is deflected from its preferred vertical direction. If the shear is sufficiently large, the bottom heaviness is not sufficient to stabilize the cell, and the flow makes the cell tumble in the high-shear region, thus trapping the cell at that depth and preventing its vertical migration (**Figure 2***a*, **subpanel***i*). This trapping effect arising from shear flow has been proposed to be a mechanism for the formation of the frequently observed thin layers of phytoplankton in aquatic systems (Durham et al. 2009). These layers are accumulations of plankton in a narrow depth layer but extending over kilometers (Dekshenieks et al. 2001, Moline et al. 2010), reaching phytoplankton concentrations several times and potentially orders of magnitude higher than background levels (Ryan et al. 2008, Sullivan et al. 2010). Thin layers persist from hours to weeks (Durham & Stocker 2012) and represent important ecological hot spots in the ocean. The interaction between motile phytoplankton and shear flow thus offers a first example of how flow can change the spatial distribution of microorganisms on large scales.

A similar interaction between flow and organism shape occurs when flow is turbulent. The small turbulent whirls that microorganisms are embedded in exert torques on them; that is, the whirls reorient the microorganisms. This reorientation is again resisted by the bottom heaviness of the organisms. The competition between destabilizing torques due to turbulence and stabilizing torque due to bottom heaviness results in swimming phytoplankton accumulating in certain high-shear regions of the turbulent flow, causing patchiness in the population distribution at millimeter scales (Breier et al. 2018, De Lillo et al. 2014, Durham et al. 2013, Gustavsson et al. 2016) (**Figure 2***c*). Because the spatial distribution of organisms is a key determinant of encounter rates between organisms, these effects of flow can have far-reaching consequences for plankton and aquatic ecology. One consequence of accumulation in layers or patches is enhanced predation. In this respect, it is well established that thin phytoplankton layers are preferential foraging grounds for higher trophic levels; the larvae of some fish species do not make it to adulthood unless they

Table 1 Summary of (a) passive flow-organism interactions and (b) active flow-organism interactions related to the physical effects of flow on bacteria, phytoplankton, and larvae (described in Section 2), highlighting the mechanisms and ecological consequences of these interactions

Organism type	Mechanism	hanism Ecological consequences				
(a) Passive flow-organism interactions						
Phytoplankton or larvae,	Top-heavy or bottom-heavy cells are	Organisms accumulate in patches or layers,	2.1, 2.4			
motile but weakly	passively reoriented, thus swimming	which can make them more vulnerable to				
swimming, with	downward or upward, respectively.	predation, can disrupt their vertical				
nonuniform shape or	Organisms are vulnerable to	migratory patterns, and can favor cell–cell				
density	overturning in high shear.	encounters for sexual reproduction.				
Bacteria, elongated	Cells undergo periodic rotations	For nonmotile helical bacteria, this	2.2			
	(Jenrey orbits) due to torque	bactoria to drift perpendicular to the flow				
	aligning with the flow direction due	direction leading to accumulation				
	to their elongated shapes	unection, leading to accumulation.				
Pastoria alongated and	Lofferry orbits and gwimming	Motila bastaria assumulata poer surfaces	2.2			
motile	contribute to the trapping of cells in	enhancing surface colonization but their	2.2			
moule	high-shear regions (shear tranning)	chemotactic migration is hampered				
Bacteria elongated and	Flow reorients swimming cells pear a	By migrating unstream basteria can more	2.3			
flagellated and sperm	surface around their flagella	effectively infect catheters and medical	2.3			
cells	directing the cells upstream	devices Unstream swimming can also be				
cons	(upstream swimming)	exploited to separate motile sperm				
Bacteria motile on	Flow reorients cells using twitching	Like upstream swimming upstream	2.3			
surfaces via pili	motility on a surface around the cell	twitching can favor infection and	2.9			
(twitching motility)	poles, directing the cells upstream	colonization of flow networks.				
((upstream twitching).					
Bacteria, elongated and/or	Bacterial shape enhances surface	There is increased surface colonization in	2.3			
curved, on surfaces	adhesion in flow by increasing the	flow by elongated and/or curved cells				
,	probability of contact of daughter	relative to nonelongated cells.				
	cells with the surface.					
Bacterial biofilms	Flow influences biofilm initiation,	Biofilms show increased surface attachment,	2.3			
	structure, and mechanical resistance.	biofouling, and potentially infection.				
(b) Active flow-organism in	nteractions	L				
Phytoplankton, motile	Bottom-heavy cells rapidly adjust their	Cells can avoid deleterious turbulence	2.1			
with nonuniform shape	shape to be top heavy in response to	patches during vertical migration.				
or density	overturning in flow, thus shifting					
	from upward to downward					
	swimming.					
Larvae, strongly	Larvae increase swimming speed in	Larvae regulate their vertical position in the	2.4			
swimming	response to flow, swim against the	water column to exploit differential				
	prevailing vertical current, or	transport and favorable horizontal				
	sink/dive in response to flow.	currents, impacting dispersal and				
		settlement success.				
Larvae, specifically of the	High-flow conditions accelerate	Larvae leaving calmer open ocean	2.4			
urchin Strongylocentrotus	development in urchin larvae to	conditions and approaching more				
purpuratus	induce competence to settle.	turbulent near-shore regions can settle in				
		and be recruited to preferred coastal sites.				

Viscosity: measure of a fluid's resistance to flowing when exposed to shear. A highviscosity fluid is described as viscous

Jeffery orbit:

rotational trajectory that particles (or microorganisms) undergo when exposed to a shear flow. The rotation speed typically varies with orientation relative to the flow (except for spheres, for which it is constant)

Microfluidics:

technology that allows for the manipulation of liquids in the microliter to picoliter range, in networks of channels with micrometric or submicrometric dimensions encounter a thin layer (Durham & Stocker 2012). The formation of patches can also have positive consequences for phytoplankton. For phytoplankton species whose life cycle includes a sexual stage, patch formation increases encounter rates. Furthermore, we speculate that patch formation may provide a means to enhance the local concentration of chemicals exuded by plankton, such as allelopathic compounds aimed at deterring other organisms. In general, however, much about the consequences of these prevalent plankton accumulations remains to be investigated.

The examples so far illustrate some of the consequences of microorganisms being redirected in their swimming by the torques caused by fluid shear. In these examples, shape plays a fundamental role in that it mediates the interaction between motility and flow. This role of shape, however, can be considered passive in that it involves no active response of the organisms to the flow. Recently, it was found that some phytoplankton are not simply passively at the mercy of flow-as had long been held—but can behaviorally respond to cues from the flow (see Section 4, titled Mechanisms of Flow Sensing, below). Heterosigma akashiwo, among other motile phytoplankton, can actively respond to flow cues by rapidly changing shape and thereby changing their swimming behavior (Sengupta et al. 2017). A small change to the shape asymmetry allows a fraction of the cells in a population to switch from bottom heavy to top heavy, thus passively reorienting the cells to swim downward rather than upward. The shape change is concurrent with a build-up in oxidative species in the cell, likely due to stress, but the biological mechanism of the shape change is unknown and represents fertile ground for investigation by cell biologists. This rapid and active physiological shift in response to flow may allow vertically migrating phytoplankton to alter their migratory strategies and to swim away from regions of high turbulence; such turbulence is physiologically deleterious for many species of motile phytoplankton (Sengupta et al. 2017) (Figure 2a, subpanel ii). This, therefore, represents an example of how plankton can actively control their shape, in response to cues from flow, to modulate their macroscale migratory behavior.

2.2. Spatial Distribution of Bacteria in Flow

Like phytoplankton, bacteria are transported by flow. If the flow is uniform, it has the simple effect of bringing bacteria to a different region in space. However, flow is rarely uniform and is often associated with spatial variation in velocity (i.e., shear) (**Figure 1**b-d). Shear is the principal factor in the interaction between bacteria and flow and, as for phytoplankton, is mediated by the shape of the microorganisms. The shape of bacterial cells ranges from spheres and spheroids to triangles, squares, teardrops, and helices (Young 2006), some of which may have evolved to maximize the fitness of cells in their typical fluid dynamic environment, as discussed in Vogel (1996). A striking example in a quiescent fluid environment is the helical shape of the gastric pathogen Helicobacter pylori, which increases the ability of cells to move in the viscous stomach mucus, causing inflammation (Sycuro et al. 2012). In a shear flow, bacteria—like passive particles undergo periodic rotations (Jeffrey 1922). These rotations, termed Jeffery orbits, arise because while the center (more precisely, the centroid) of the bacterium moves exactly with the flow, the body rotates due to the torque exerted by the shear flow. Spherical bacteria, such as cocci, rotate with constant rotation rate. In contrast, elongated shapes, such as bacilli, rotate at a rate that fluctuates over time: more rapidly when they are oriented transverse to the flow and more slowly when they are aligned with the flow (Figure 2b, subpanels *i*,*ii*). This effect can be very strong, causing bacteria that have an aspect ratio like that of Escherichia coli or Bacillus subtilis to spend the vast majority of time aligned with the flow and to periodically flip (Figure 2b, subpanel ii). For nonmotile helical bacteria, this preferential alignment can cause the bacteria to drift perpendicular to the flow direction, leading to their accumulation around the center of a channel or other flow conduit, as observed with Leptospira biflexa in microfluidic experiments (Marcos et al. 2009).

When bacteria are motile, the preferential alignment caused by Jeffery orbits has strong and rapid effects on their spatial distribution. This was recently demonstrated in microfluidic experiments (Rusconi et al. 2014) with suspensions of B. subtilis and of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. In those experiments, bacteria in flow accumulated preferentially in the low-velocity but high-shear regions close to the microchannel sidewalls, creating a depletion in cell concentration of up to 70% in the central region of the channel, characterized by high velocity but low shear. This phenomenon, termed shear trapping, has also been predicted on theoretical grounds (Ezhilan & Saintillan 2015) and is likely of broad occurrence, as it depends only on the elongated shape of the bacteria, their motility, and the presence of shear. Shear trapping can directly affect fundamental microbial functions. First, since this mechanism causes cells to move to high-shear regions that often arise near surfaces, it increases the encounter and attachment rate of cells with surfaces, possibly promoting biofilm formation and infections. As shown with P. aeruginosa (Rusconi et al. 2014), the surface coverage (i.e., the fraction of the surface covered by bacteria) can increase by up to 125% as shear increases relative to quiescent conditions. This mechanism is solely regulated by the local hydrodynamics and is due neither to an active response of the bacteria nor to the specifics of their interaction with the surface. Second, shear trapping hampers the ability of bacteria to actively move in response to chemical stimuli (chemotaxis), a fundamental mechanism to find nutrients and infect hosts, as shown by experimental observations (Rusconi et al. 2014) and numerical modeling (Bearon & Hazel 2015). By trapping B. subtilis in regions where shear is high, flow can reduce the ability of this bacterium to move toward higher oxygen concentrations in an oxygen gradient (aerotaxis) by up to 85% relative to flow-free conditions (Rusconi et al. 2014). These effects depend only on the morphology of the bacteria and are independent of other traits or physiological conditions, so these interactions likely affect a very broad range of bacteria across different habitats. While the ecological consequences of this recently discovered mechanism remain to be investigated, one can speculate that certain animals may use this mechanism to prevent chemotaxis of pathogens toward the animals' surfaces. Corals, for example, generate strong flows, and therefore high shear, in the vicinity of their surfaces by means of cilia on their outer surfaces (Shapiro et al. 2014). Moreover, bacterial pathogens of corals use chemotaxis toward the mucus secreted by the coral animal, likely to facilitate coral colonization and potentially infection (Garren et al. 2014). The trapping induced by high shear rates may thus serve a function analogous to the function of a simple immune system in corals by hampering pathogens from landing on the coral.

Shear trapping is an example of how flow controls bacterial distribution and concentration. At the same time, the concentration of bacteria can influence the flow. In dense suspensions, i.e., bacterial suspensions with cell density higher than approximately 10^9 cells/mL, the motility of bacteria creates turbulence-like flow patterns on a spatial scale of $100 \,\mu$ m (Dombrowski et al. 2004, Secchi et al. 2016) and can create flows (Wioland et al. 2016) that can substantially accelerate the transport of objects suspended in the fluid (Kaiser et al. 2014). This bacterial turbulence can cause bacteria to move two to three times faster than individual cells can swim (Dombrowski et al. 2004). Bacterial densities of this magnitude may occur in the gut (Dukowicz et al. 2007), and while more work is required to determine whether these flow structures are present, their occurrence would affect the mixing regime of the gut as well as the access of individual bacteria in the microbiome to the different gut regions. If present, bacterial turbulence could be beneficial for the host by increasing the mixing and transport of microbiota-generated metabolites, which play a crucial role in immune and metabolic disorders (Lee & Hase 2014).

2.3. Surface-Associated Behaviors of Bacteria in Flow

Near surfaces, bacteria encounter a hydrodynamic environment that is substantially different from the one they experience in bulk, and yet in this environment as well, the forces generated by the motion of the fluid impact their transport and behavior (Figure 1c,d). In an otherwise quiescent fluid, motile bacteria accumulate near solid surfaces due to a force-arising from the flow generated by their swimming-that attracts the bacteria to the surface (Berke et al. 2008, Molaei et al. 2014). In the presence of flow, this interaction with the surface can instead trigger bacterial movement in the direction opposite to the flow, known as upstream swimming (Figure 2b, subpanel *iii*). This behavior is observed in flagellated bacteria with an elongated body; such bacteria swim very close to a surface (i.e., within a body length) by using the flagella to propel themselves. The front part of the body acts as a pivot point around which fluid shear rotates the cell and orients it facing upstream, like a weather vane orienting in the wind. This effect, well studied in E. coli (Hill et al. 2007, Kaya & Koser 2012), can lead to an upstream migration speed that is much larger than the speed at which a bacterial colony spreads by growth (Hill et al. 2007), with important implications for the spreading of infections in catheters and medical devices. Incidentally, upstream swimming also occurs in sperm cells (Miki & Clapham 2013), potentially the result of coevolution of sperm flagellar motility and the flow rate in the female reproductive tract (Tung et al. 2015). This upstream swimming behavior can be exploited to separate motile sperm from samples for the treatment of infertility, as recently demonstrated in microfluidic experiments (Zaferani et al. 2018) (Figure 2d).

In bacteria, upstream migration can be achieved not just by flagellar motility but also by surface motility. Such migration has been observed for P. aeruginosa (Shen et al. 2012), Xylella fastidiosa (Meng et al. 2005), and Mycoplasma mobile (Miyata et al. 2002), all of which move on surfaces by the extension and retraction of type IV pili, a type of motion termed twitching (Figure 2b, sub**panel** iv). Pili are located predominantly at one pole of the cell, and the cell periodically extends and retracts them to pull itself along the surface. The torque exerted by the shear flow next to the surface flips the cell around the pole so that the latter points upstream, triggering a preferential twitching migration against the flow (Shen et al. 2012). Although migration speeds by upstream twitching are 100-fold lower than for upstream swimming with flagella, dispersal by upstream twitching can still grant growth advantages. Such upstream migration can drive a cyclical process to colonize flow networks, termed dynamic switching, in which cells move upstream on the surface, detach, and are transported downstream by flow (Kannan et al. 2018). Microfluidic experiments recently revealed that, by using upstream twitching, P. aeruginosa gains a competitive advantage over its natural competitor Proteus mirabilis. P. mirabilis grows more rapidly and moves considerably faster on surfaces but is not able to migrate upstream. Thanks to upstream twitching, P. aeruginosa can segregate by moving upstream from a coculture with P. mirabilis and can thrive in flow regions that cannot be reached by P. mirabilis, which would otherwise outgrow P. aeruginosa in the absence of flow (Sirvaporn et al. 2015) (Figure 2f).

Shear can favor surface colonization not only by increasing the encounter rate of bacteria with surfaces (Rusconi et al. 2014) but also by increasing the residence time of bacteria on surfaces. In *P. aeruginosa*, larger shear rates caused longer residence times of cells on microfluidic surfaces irrespective of the specific surface chemistry (Lecuyer et al. 2011). The exact mechanism remains unknown, but a reduced effect in mutants lacking polar type I and IV pili (cupA1 and pilC), flagella (flgK), or the ability to synthesize certain matrix components (pelA) suggests the involvement of multiple adhesive structures (Lecuyer et al. 2011). Shear-enhanced adhesion also occurs in other bacterial species. In *E. coli*, it is a consequence of specific catch bonds formed between an adhesion protein present on type I pili (FimH) and mannose adsorbed on the surface: Enhancement of adhesion is triggered by a conformational change of FimH under load (Thomas et al. 2008). Similar conformational changes of fibers under load are responsible for shear-enhanced adhesion in *Staphylococcus epidermis* (Weaver et al. 2011) and *Staphylococcus aureus* (Pappelbaum et al. 2013).

Fluid flow can further enhance surface colonization through interaction with the shape of bacteria. The curved, elongated shape of *Caulobacter crescentus* was recently found to enhance colonization of surfaces in flow upon cell division, whereby flow orients the piliated pole of the arched daughter cell toward the surface to which the mother cell is attached (Persat et al. 2014) (**Figure 2b**, **subpanel v**). This mechanism increases the frequency of daughter-cell attachment to the surface after cell division relative to the case of a nonarched mutant, favoring the spreading of colonies in environments with flow. More generally, elongation assists bacteria in withstanding shear forces on surfaces, as elongation reduces the area exposed to the shear force when the cell is oriented with one pole facing the incoming flow (Young 2006).

Bacterial attachment to surfaces is often the first step toward the formation of biofilms. Biofilms are communities held together by a self-secreted matrix of extracellular polymeric substances and represent a widespread mode of life of bacteria (Hall-Stoodley et al. 2004). Biofilms grown in highshear conditions have a dense monolayer (flat) structure, which resists shear due to its compactness, whereas in low shear, biofilms develop a multilayer (fluffy) structure, which allows for better nutrient exchange relative to the flat structure but cannot withstand the same mechanical stimuli (Paul et al. 2012, Salek et al. 2009, Stoodley et al. 1999). Local flow conditions associated with the presence of obstacles, constrictions, or corners can even more dramatically affect the structure of biofilms, leading to the formation of long, filamentous structures termed streamers (Rusconi et al. 2010). The systematic study of microscopic streamers has only recently begun with the advent of microfluidic systems (Autrusson et al. 2011; Rusconi et al. 2010, 2011). Often characterized as biofilm filaments suspended in the flow, streamers can have a greater impact on the flow relative to classic biofilms, for example, by causing rapid clogging of artificial and natural conduits, porous media, and medical devices (Drescher et al. 2013, Hassanpourfard et al. 2015). In the context of the effects of flow on biofilm architecture, a largely open question is the extent to which flow affects the microstructure and the mechanical properties of these cell consortia. In some studies, flow was reported to increase the adherence and cohesion of biofilms (Klapper et al. 2002, Rodesney et al. 2017, Rupp et al. 2005, Stoodley et al. 2002), whereas other studies reported no effect (Galy et al. 2012, Kundukad et al. 2016). These discrepancies may be due to the diversity of growth conditions and of the bacterial species considered. In addition, flow control and quantification of the biofilm development are challenges that we are only recently beginning to overcome, using advanced microfluidic technologies (Yawata et al. 2016) and sophisticated imaging techniques (Drescher et al. 2016). Further research in this domain may have important implications for combating biofouling on medical devices, filtration membranes, and other devices (Conrad & Poling-Skutvik 2018).

The flow environment can significantly affect population dynamics within growing biofilms by generating feedbacks between flow conditions, spatial architecture, and interspecies competition. For example, the presence of regions with different velocity in a flow can trigger the spatial segregation of bacterial communities on the basis of their adhesiveness (Martínez-García et al. 2018, Nadell et al. 2017). As an example, in surface-attached communities, high-velocity flow detaches weakly adhesive cells, favoring their dispersal and the formation of smaller colonies, whereas low-velocity flow allows the attachment of both highly and weakly adhesive cells, promoting the formation of larger colonies (Martínez-García et al. 2018). There is also feedback: By forming large and stiff biofilm structures that can withstand considerable hydrodynamic forces, more adhesive cells create areas protected from flow that favor the growth of less adhesive cells, which would otherwise be detached by shear (Nadell et al. 2017) (**Figure 2e**).

2.4. Dispersal and Settlement of Larvae in Flow

Many species of aquatic invertebrates are meroplanktonic; i.e., they spend part of their lives in the plankton (that is, suspended), interacting with flows in the bulk. The adult often lives on

Diffusion: flux of molecules along a concentration gradient driven by molecular interactions. The motion is directed from highconcentration to low-concentration regions

Advection: transport of a substance by fluid flow, i.e., a net motion of the fluid a surface but releases larvae in the water column. To transition to adulthood, the larvae must eventually settle on surfaces; some larvae do so by sensing and responding to flow signals near surfaces (**Figure 1***c*,*d*).

Vertical migration and the regulation of vertical position in the water column are important to larvae during their free-swimming planktonic phase. Some highly asymmetrically shaped, weakly swimming larvae, such as the echinoderms Hemicentrotus pulcherrimus and Dendraster excentricus, are passively oriented swimmers (Chan 2012, Mogami et al. 2001), like the phytoplankton described in Section 2.1, and such larvae have bottom-heavy morphologies that induce upward swimming in still water. Many stronger-swimming larvae, however, can actively change their swimming behaviors in the presence of the uniform or turbulent flows that characterize their coastal environments. Diverse larvae (e.g., the blue crab Callinectes sapidus and the urchin Arbacia punctulata) increase swimming speeds (Welch & Forward 2001, Wheeler et al. 2016), the barnacle Semibalanus balanoides swims against prevailing flows (DiBacco et al. 2011), and the oyster Crassostrea virginica sinks or dives (Fuchs et al. 2015, Wheeler et al. 2015). Such behaviors—among others—allow larvae to regulate their vertical position in the water column. Such positioning, in turn, affects how larvae are transported and dispersed by flow at large scales: Larvae higher in the water column are carried further by strong surface currents (Dekshenieks et al. 1996, North et al. 2008), and vertically moving larvae can swim into and exploit depth-dependent horizontal currents that transport these larvae toward coastal settlement sites (Helfrich & Pineda 2003). This depth-dependent dispersal of larvae offers an example of how organisms can affect their dispersal by flow over large scales by regulating their behavior and flow interactions at small scales.

As larvae seek a surface on which to settle on the ocean floor, the flow cues that they experience change, and their responses to these cues may facilitate settlement in suitable locations. Near rough bottom topographies where, for example, oyster or coral larvae settle, flow is highly complex, changing speed and direction frequently (**Figure 1***d*). Swimming larvae then experience rapid, intermittent fluctuations in flow that increase closer to the bottom surface (Pepper et al. 2015). Rapid behavioral responses to flow may thus help larvae settle. *C. virginica* larvae, for instance, respond to rapid fluctuations in flow velocity by arresting their swimming, permitting them to dive-bomb toward surfaces owing to their excess density over seawater (Wheeler et al. 2015). In addition to inducing behavioral responses, flow cues can induce developmental acceleration, as shown in the larval urchin *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. This accelerated development causes a transition from precompetence to competence to settle following exposure to high-turbulence conditions (Gaylord et al. 2013), although the physiological underpinnings of this transition remain unknown (Hodin et al. 2018).

3. EFFECTS OF FLOW ON THE CHEMICAL LANDSCAPE EXPERIENCED BY BACTERIA AND PLANKTON

Beyond directly affecting small organisms by exerting forces and torques that change their migration and surface behaviors, flow can also indirectly affect these organisms by shaping the landscape of their nutrient and signaling cues. Nutrient uptake, respiration, detection of predators and prey, and signaling rely upon the transport of dissolved chemicals. In the absence of flow, molecules are transported solely by molecular diffusion (**Figure 3***a*, **subpanel** *i*). In the presence of flow, molecules are instead transported primarily by advection (**Figure 3***a*, **subpanels** *ii–iv*), which is typically much faster than diffusion. The spatial scale, the rate of diffusion of molecules, and the speed of the flow determine which of the two processes is dominant, with considerable impact on life at the small scale. As we describe below, much like for the physical effects of flow on organisms, organismal size and shape play a fundamental role in determining the flow-mediated chemical landscape that organisms experience. The region surrounding an organism that is chemically altered by its presence is known as the diffusion boundary layer. For example, in the case of nutrients, the diffusion boundary layer is the region depleted in nutrients because of uptake by the organism. By transporting nutrient molecules more effectively toward the organism, fluid flow can make the diffusion boundary layer thinner. A thinning of the boundary layer is thus, in general, the mechanism by which flow enhances transport to and from an organism. Motility has a similar effect as flow in thinning the boundary layer—both motility and flow generate a relative motion of the organism and the surrounding fluid—and can thus similarly enhance transport.

Chemical resources in aquatic environments often occur as localized or point sources, for example, a phytoplankton cell or a marine particle releasing amino acids that act as nutrients for bacteria. In the absence of flow, such chemicals diffuse away from the source symmetrically (i.e., equally in all directions; **Figure 3***a*, **subpanel***i*), and if the release is not constant, concentrations rapidly become homogeneous (within minutes, at the microscale). In the presence of a laminar flow, for example, the sinking of a particle, chemicals again diffuse away from the source but are also advected downstream so that the source and its diffusing profile are carried along in the flow

Diffusion boundary layer: region near a solid boundary (such as a cell) where fluid velocity decreases to the point at which any transport is governed by diffusion, such as the localized region around cells absorbing nutrient molecules



Figure 3 (Figure appears on preceding page)

Effects of flow on the chemical landscape experienced by bacteria and plankton. (a) Propagation of a chemical signal in flow environments of increasing complexity. The color intensity denotes chemical concentration, with high concentrations in dark red and low concentrations in light red. (i) In no-flow conditions, molecules diffuse away symmetrically from a point source, with the highest concentrations at the source and concentrations decreasing with distance until they are indistinguishable from the background. (ii) A uniform flow does not alter the shape of a chemical cloud, because all molecules are transported with the same flow velocity. (iii) In a shear flow, the chemical cloud is stretched into a diagonal plume by the different flow velocities across the size of the plume. (iv) In a shear flow over a surface, the plume is stretched away from the surface. (v) In turbulent flow, a plume is stretched and deformed into filaments, which have higher chemical concentrations near their centers (inset) that diffuse away toward their edges. (b) In Staphylococcus aureus biofilms, quorum sensing (OS) can occur in crevices-which mimic complex topographies such as cracks in rocks, tooth cavities, intestinal crypts, and corrugated pipes-even when it is quenched in the external flow, because crevices prevent washout of secreted autoinducer molecules. Panel b adapted from Kim et al. (2016). In this panel, merged images of S. aureus QS-off (red) and QS-on (yellow) cells are shown. (c) Uptake rates in flow by phytoplankton depend on cell size and morphology, as these factors determine the thickness of the diffusion boundary layer around cells. Large diatoms and small chain-forming diatoms (such as Thalassiosira, inset) benefit most from flow due to a larger deformation of their boundary layer relative to the deformation experienced by small cells. A numerical simulation of a diatom chain in flow (connected black points) shows the complex, time-dependent deformation that the diffusion boundary layer (white regions) can undergo. Panel c adapted from Musielak et al. (2009). (d) Rough bottom biological communities like oyster or coral reefs, or biofouled landscapes (under the dashed white curve), generate complex near-bottom flows (overlaid arrows), with areas of high velocity (red) and low velocity (blue). Chemicals (white patches) exuded from the surface are swept and distorted into filaments by the turbulent flow, giving swimming larvae a complex map of chemical cues to interpret when they seek to settle. Panel d adapted from Koehl & Hadfield (2010).

(Figure 3*a*, subpanel *ii*). In the presence of a shear flow, where the flow speed—and thus the advection—is different on different parts of a point source, a stretched plume forms (Figure 3*a*, subpanel *iii*). When the point source is on a surface, shear flow stretches the plume away from the surface (Figure 3*a*, subpanel *iv*). In the presence of turbulent flow, the diffusing chemical plume is warped and stretched into thin filaments (Figure 3*a*, subpanel *v*), which in the ocean can become as thin as a few tens of micrometers. Finally, entire surfaces can act as chemical sources, such as a seafloor biological community releasing chemical signals for bacteria and plankton in the bulk. The presence of flow near the bottom mixes these chemical signals and produces complex chemical fields for small organisms swimming nearby. Bacteria and plankton thus navigate chemical fields that are frequently influenced by flow, simultaneously interpreting perturbations to their own local chemical fields while responding to signal sources that are disguised by the motion of the fluid. We now illustrate this process in more detail with examples drawn from biofilms, bacteria, phytoplankton, and larvae.

Quorum sensing:

cell-cell communication process by which bacteria release and detect chemical molecules, termed inducers, thereby obtaining a measurement of the local population density

3.1. Quorum Sensing in Flow by Bacteria and Biofilms

Bacterial populations can orchestrate their collective behavior through a mode of communication termed quorum sensing that relies upon the release of diffusible chemical signals, termed inducers. Once the concentration of inducers reaches a threshold, diverse bacterial behaviors can be triggered, ranging from light production in marine *Vibrio* inhabiting the squid light organ (Bassler et al. 1997) to extracellular matrix production and expression of virulence factors in human pathogens such as *S. aureus, Vibrio cholerae*, and *P. aeruginosa* (O'Loughlin et al. 2013, Stoodley 2016).

Fluid flow can modulate quorum sensing by affecting the transport and thus the local concentration of inducer molecules. For example, genetically identical cells of *S. aureus* and *V. cholerae* under flow do not exhibit a uniform quorum sensing response throughout the thickness of a biofilm (Kim et al. 2016, Stoodley 2016). Under flow, only cells at the base of the biofilm exhibit quorum sensing, whereas stopping the flow triggers quorum sensing in the upper layers as well (Kim et al. 2016). Microfluidic experiments have revealed that flow washes away inducer molecules in communities growing on planar surfaces, whereas bacteria growing in narrow cavities that mimic natural environments such as cracks in rocks and dental cavities are sheltered and can still perform quorum sensing even in the presence of a strong ambient flow (Kim et al. 2016) (**Figure 3b**). A similar effect occurs in *P. aeruginosa* biofilms, in which a thick extracellular matrix reduces the washout of inducer molecules and confers resilience to quorum sensing in up to moderate flows (Emge et al. 2016, Kirisits et al. 2007). In fact, fluid flow is in general not able to penetrate inside the biofilm matrix, where molecules are transported mainly by diffusion (Stewart 2003). Similar principles thus apply to the transport of nutrients and oxygen, whereby cells residing deep within the biofilm receive only those nutrients capable of diffusing through the matrix, whereas cells residing in the outermost layers experience much higher supply rates due to flow (Stoodley et al. 1999, Thomen et al. 2017).

3.2. Chemotaxis in Flow by Bacteria

Bacteria can sense chemical gradients and tune motility accordingly: Chemotaxis allows them to swim toward beneficial chemicals or away from harmful ones. Flow can decrease the ability of bacteria to perform chemotaxis and, similarly, other forms of taxis. For example, shear trapping (Rusconi et al. 2014), described above, prevents bacteria from turning effectively in the direction of the gradient. Flow can also trick bacteria to move in incorrect directions, as shown on the basis of a mathematical model of taxis (Locsei & Pedley 2009): When the timescale over which a bacterium measures the local chemical concentration is similar to the timescale over which flow reorients the cell, the cell moves in an incorrect direction, in extreme cases even causing negative chemotaxis (i.e., migration in the direction opposite to the chemoattractant source). We speculate, however, that the negative taxis is not sufficiently robust to be exploited, for example, by animals to prevent bacterial colonization and infection.

With regard to chemotaxis, marine bacteria face several environmental challenges: Seawater is generally characterized by low concentrations of nutrients, frequently occurring as point-source events, and fluid flow is prevalent (Stocker & Seymour 2012). In this scenario, motility can confer an advantage (Stocker et al. 2008), and flow may favor specific motility adaptations. It has been proposed on the basis of a mathematical model that bacteria using the common run-andtumble swimming pattern (best studied in the enteric bacteria E. coli) are poor at chemotaxis in a shear flow, whereas a run-and-reverse swimming pattern enables bacteria to stay close to a nutrient source even under high shear (Luchsinger et al. 1999). Experimental evidence shows that in a shear flow, Pseudoalteromonas haloplanktis, due to its run-and-reverse swimming, has a faster chemotaxis response and more intense accumulation relative to E. coli, leading to twice the nutrient exposure (Stocker et al. 2008). Consequently, run-and-reverse swimming has been proposed as an adaptive strategy adopted by marine bacteria to enhance chemotactic abilities under turbulent conditions (Stocker et al. 2008). In contrast, the run-and-tumble behavior of E. coli, mediated by many flagella, may be optimal in very viscous environments, such as the human gut, where multiple flagella generate a higher total torque to drill through the high-viscosity environment. Swimming speed is another crucial factor in increasing nutrient uptake but comes at a high energetic cost, with the trade-off being determined by flow conditions. Competition simulations in a turbulent flow typical of the oceans show that the optimal swimming speed is in the order of 60 μ m/s (Taylor & Stocker 2012), in agreement with speeds typical of marine bacteria (Stocker & Seymour 2012).

Taxis: active directional motion of organisms in response to an ambient stimulus, for example, a chemical stimulus (chemotaxis) (e.g., a nutrient) or a physical stimulus (e.g., light, giving phototaxis). Taxis can be attractive or repulsive

Run-and-tumble:

motility strategy in which bacteria alternate straight-swimming runs with brief, nearly random reorientation events (tumbles)

Run-and-reverse:

motility strategy in which bacteria alternate straight-swimming runs with nearly instantaneous reversals of direction An important example of chemotaxis of bacteria in flow is that toward marine particles. These particles are responsible for a large flux of carbon from the surface ocean to the deep ocean as they sink (impacting global carbon cycling): The magnitude of this flux is determined by particle degradation by bacteria, which in turn is driven by how rapidly bacteria find particles. Bacteria can chemotax toward particles by sensing the gradients of dissolved organic matter emanating from them (Kiørboe et al. 2002). The flow associated with the sinking of the particle elongates the resulting chemical plume, which becomes a comet-like tail behind the particle at high sinking speeds (Kiørboe & Jackson 2001). Mathematical models (Kiørboe & Jackson 2001) and microfluidic experiments (Son et al. 2016, Stocker et al. 2008) have shown that motile marine bacteria, thanks to their fast swimming speed and the run-and-reverse swimming strategy, are very effective in using chemotaxis to take advantage of these chemical-rich plumes shaped by flow and in ultimately finding the particle from which they emanate.

3.3. Nutrient Uptake in Flow by Phytoplankton

Flow can have a considerable, size-dependent effect on nutrient uptake. Smaller phytoplankton cells have a natural advantage over larger cells because nutrient uptake rates per cell volume are largest for small cells (Karp-Boss et al. 1996; Kiørboe 1993, 2008). This results both from a small cell's greater surface area-to-volume ratio and from the fact that the thickness of the nutrientdepleted boundary layer increases with cell size so that small cells have relatively thin boundary layers and easy access to surrounding nutrients. The presence of flow reduces the advantage of small size: The boundary layers around large cells are more strongly deformed by flow than those of small cells, because of the relatively greater thickness of large cell boundary layers. This deformation increases nutrient concentration gradients near the cell and draws more nutrient-rich fluid from outside the boundary layer toward the cell surface, thus enhancing uptake (Barton et al. 2014, Karp-Boss et al. 1996). When cells become very large or the flow becomes turbulent, the diffusion boundary layer can be deformed into very complex shapes (Figure 3c). Flow therefore produces nutrient environments local to cells whereby the preferential boost to larger cells may allow them to dominate communities. This picture of size-specific flow-uptake interaction is consistent with experiments on the diatoms Thalassiosira and Coscinodiscus in laboratory turbulence (Peters et al. 2006) and *Thalassiosira* species in turbulent mesocosms (Cózar & Echevarría 2005), where large diatoms grow preferentially over smaller competitors when flow is introduced.

Flow may also help explain the tendency of many phytoplankton species, primarily diatoms and some dinoflagellates, to form chains of multiple connected cells (**Figure 3***c*). In the absence of flow, chain formation may be disadvantageous for nutrient uptake because nutrient supply by diffusion alone is higher for single cells than for chains (Pahlow et al. 1997), and furthermore, individual cells compete with each other. However, in the presence of an oscillating shear flow, the increased size of chains confers an advantage through greater thinning of the boundary layer and thus a larger increase in nutrient supply, as indicated by numerical simulations (Musielak et al. 2009). Laboratory observations support the theory. Carbon uptake rates in chain-forming *Skeletonema* and *Chaetoceros* diatoms increase with flow, and the flow-enhanced uptake rates are greater for chains than for individual cells (Bergkvist et al. 2018). Mesocosm experiments also show that chain-forming diatoms (e.g., *Skeletonema* and *Thalassiosira*) dominate other species in the presence of flow (Cózar & Echevarría 2005).

3.4. Navigation of Turbulently Mixed Chemical Cues by Larvae

Large planktonic organisms, such as zooplankton and larvae, experience chemical signals in flow differently than bacteria and phytoplankton due to their greater size and swimming capabilities.

These large plankton use chemical signals to find mates or prey, for example, by following pheromone trails (e.g., Yen 2000). In turbulence, these chemical signals take on a form that is substantially different from still water conditions (compare **Figure 3***a*, **subpanel** *i* and **Figure 3***a*, **subpanel** *v*). As turbulence stretches and deforms a chemical source into filaments, large plankton experience rapid on/off changes in concentration when they enter/exit filaments, and as such, it is beneficial to these organisms to respond rapidly to sudden changes in their chemical landscape.

As larvae transition to adulthood and seek to settle out of the water column, the interplay of bottom boundary flow and chemical cues produces a complex map for larvae to follow. Many chemical signals induce changes to larval behavior to enhance contact with the seafloor, including those from adult conspecifics (Turner et al. 1994), prey (Hadfield & Koehl 2004, Koehl & Reidenbach 2010), and biofilms (reviewed in Hadfield 2011). There are two main chemical sensing strategies in larvae, waterborne and contact based, and these are impacted by bottom boundary flows in different ways. Larvae that sense waterborne cues, such as the oyster *C. virginica*, enhance downward swimming when exposed to solutions of adult metabolites in both still water and uniform flows (Tamburri et al. 1992, Turner et al. 1994). For the sea slug *Phestilla sibogae*, larvae rapidly cease swimming when exposed to millimeter-scale filaments of their prey's exudate (Hadfield & Koehl 2004, Koehl & Reidenbach 2010), allowing them to rapidly sink when they encounter even weak chemical cues indicative of suitable settlement sites (**Figure 3***d*). This experimental evidence suggests that larvae have evolved to react on rapid timescales to intermittent and patchy chemical cues, like those generated in the bottom boundary flow.

Flow impacts contact-based chemical sensing differently. Unlike the sensing of waterborne cues, contact-based sensing relies on larvae sampling the chemical composition of a surface by contacting the surface directly with a sensory apparatus. The polychaete *Hydroides elegans*, for instance, cannot detect the chemical exudates of a surface biofilm from a distance (Hadfield 2011). While these larvae preferentially settle on surfaces covered in biofilms, they must directly touch a biofilm with apical cilia to induce a settlement response (Hadfield 2011). Flow determines how frequently larvae contact a surface to identify settlement-relevant biofilms, as in a near-bottom shear flow, larvae tumble at high flow rates when they cannot successfully reorient against the flow (Jonsson et al. 1991). Shear is thus likely to decrease the capacity of contact-based sensing larvae to sample a surface and to thus successfully settle.

4. MECHANISMS OF FLOW SENSING

Many examples discussed in this review detail passive effects of flow on microorganisms, such as the redistribution of bacteria and plankton in shear due to motility and morphology. Sensing of flow by the organisms may not be involved in these instances, and these effects occur even for organisms that cannot sense flow. However, several examples demonstrate that higher organisms have relatively sophisticated flow-sensing mechanisms, such as larval swimming responses to turbulent cues, and this area has received considerable interest from biophysical researchers. Less studied are the capacities for direct flow sensing in phytoplankton and bacteria, a new and intriguing line of research from both a biophysical and a physiological perspective. Here, we summarize some potential flow-sensing mechanisms in larvae, phytoplankton, and bacteria.

Humans lack specific flow-sensing systems, but many aquatic species have dedicated flow sensory systems, like the lateral line in fish (Coombs & Van Netten 2006) and the hair-like setae in arthropods (Casas & Dangles 2010), or use gravity-sensing systems to detect and respond to flow. Many invertebrate larvae, particularly, have statocysts. Statocysts are fluid-filled cavities lined by sensory hairs and containing a calcareous statolith particle, and they act as gravity- and orientation-sensing systems (Budelmann 1988), analogous to the utriculus and otolith structures of



Figure 4

Potential flow-sensing mechanisms in bacteria and plankton. (*a*) Proposed larval detection of local hydrodynamics in (*i*) accelerating and (*ii*) shear flow. Flow (*dark teal arrows*) induces changes in the larval position (*yellow arrows*) and the position of the internal statolith (*orange arrows*). Both fluid acceleration and shear might displace the statolith, allowing larvae to sense these flow signals. (*b*) On surfaces, bacteria may sense mechanical cues—such as those due to hydrodynamic forces generated by shear flow on the surface—using flagella or pili. Flow-sensing mechanisms in bacteria and plankton remain an area in need of dedicated research.

the vertebrate ear. Because statoliths are denser than the surrounding fluid of the statocyst, gravity is sensed via the settling of a statolith onto receptor cilia (Wiederhold et al. 1989). It is speculated that larval motion due to fluid acceleration (**Figure 4***a*, **subpanel***i*) and shear forces (**Figure 4***a*, **subpanel***ii*) induces similar sensory transduction in larvae (Fuchs et al. 2015, Wheeler et al. 2015). Fluid acceleration would push a statolith back against the statocyst wall (**Figure 4***a*, **subpanel***i*), while a rotating shear would cause the statolith to roll along the statocyst wall (**Figure 4***a*, **subpanel***ii*). As such, this orientation-sensing organ may also have a role in flow sensing in larvae.

Little is known regarding the capabilities and mechanisms of flow sensing in phytoplankton. The question was recently raised as to whether phytoplankton sense flow directly or indirectly through other environmental signals (Amato et al. 2017). Larger phytoplankton, such as *Euglena* gracilis, use the entire cell body as a primitive statocyst-like structure. The dense cytoplasm settles to the bottom of the cell and exerts a force on the outer membrane as the cell swims upward, whereas when the cell is overturned in flow, the cytoplasm is displaced from the cell membrane, activating mechanosensitive ion channels via intracellular calcium concentrations (Häder et al. 2010). Smaller cells lack this ability, as the cytoplasmic gravitational pressure on the membrane of a small cell (<15 μ m) is of comparable strength as thermal noise (Sengupta et al. 2017). Nonetheless, small phytoplankton exhibit physiological responses to flow such as rapid changes to cytosolic calcium concentrations (Falciatore et al. 2000)—much like larger cells—and exhibit changes in gene expression (Amato et al. 2017), fatty-acid accumulation (Amato et al. 2017, Chengala et al. 2013), and morphology (Sengupta et al. 2017). Yet despite evidence of rapid physiological responses to turbulence, our understanding of the sensing mechanisms employed by phytoplankton remains limited.

In bacteria, no direct evidence of flow sensing appears to be available, and information potentially relevant for flow sensing comes from experiments on mechanosensing of surfaces, as presented in detail by Gordon & Wang (2019). When bacteria transition from the planktonic to the sessile lifestyle, they disable flagellar rotation (Lele et al. 2013) and initiate the secretion of biofilm matrix (Guttenplan et al. 2010). This switch is determined by mechanical cues sensed by flagella or pili (Figure 4b). The hydrodynamic load on the flagellum can trigger both the loss of motility and the initiation of matrix secretion (Belas 2014). Flagellar mechanosensing has been observed in bacteria living in diverse environments, including E. coli (Lele et al. 2013), P. aeruginosa, V. cholerae, B. subtilis (Guttenplan et al. 2010), C. crescentus, Vibrio parahaemolyticus, and P. mirabilis (Belas 2014). As the trigger for surface colonization, the flagellar mechanosensing mechanism is a potential target in the development of biofilm-inhibiting drugs. Pili can also act as mechanosensors, as shown in *P. aeruginosa*, which activates virulence upon contact with surfaces. By sensing mechanical cues with the PilY1 protein (Sirvaporn et al. 2014) and type IV pili (Persat et al. 2015). P. aeruginosa activates cyclic-di-GMP signaling (a secondary messenger used by P. aeruginosa and many other bacteria to regulate the expression of genes associated with biofilm initiation), which was recently shown to increase proportionally to the magnitude of the shear force in the presence of flow (Rodesney et al. 2017). Bacteria may also sense surfaces using the mechanosensitive channels that protect the integrity of the cell wall upon osmotic shock (Cox et al. 2018); these channels may also be sensitive to mechanical deformation of the cell wall and trigger a cellular response. similar to that described above in phytoplankton. In principle, these mechanisms could also serve to sense flow (although this has not been demonstrated); however, the forces associated with flow are often smaller than those associated with surface contact. The possibility of direct flow sensing in bacteria thus remains an open question.

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Most microorganisms live in moving fluids, and many microorganisms have developed morphologies, behaviors, and physiological responses to flow. Flow is experienced differently by organisms of different sizes, as reflected in their behaviors. Zooplankton and larvae feel turbulence as a chaotic and rapidly fluctuating signal, whether in terms of forces or in terms of chemical cues, whereas smaller phytoplankton and bacteria experience the flow environment, including turbulence, as a more smoothly changing signal. Accordingly, zooplankton and larvae have adapted to react quickly to turbulent signals, as exemplified by the nearly instantaneous cessation of swimming by some larvae when they encounter rapid changes in flow velocity or chemical concentration. Bacteria and phytoplankton, in contrast, must detect and navigate smoother environmental changes, like chemotactic bacteria following the comet-like tail of a sinking nutrient particle. Despite this disparity in how flow is experienced across organismal scales, there are also fundamental commonalities in the physical effects of flow among aquatic species. For instance, elongated body shapes are rotated in shear flows on scales from bacteria to larvae, leading to many ecologically significant phenomena, such as the formation of thin layers and the shear-induced accumulation of organisms near surfaces.

We highlight several themes in this review. First, we argue that flows cause forces and torques on organisms, which can compete and interfere with their locomotion and migration behaviors. at times entirely impeding them. This interference directly affects the spatial distribution of organisms, which is a primary determinant of downstream processes, such as encounter rates with prey, predators, and conspecifics. Second, we describe how flows reshape the landscape of chemicals that many bacteria and plankton rely on for nutrient acquisition and communication, in ways that may enhance or hinder their ability to navigate that landscape. Third, we provide examples in which bacteria and plankton show active behavioral responses to flow. For larger organisms, such as larvae, this capacity has been known for some time. For smaller ones, such as phytoplankton, this capacity has been only recently discovered. This is an intriguing direction of inquiry that considerably enriches the palette of possible outcomes of flow-organism interactions at small scales. We illustrate these effects of flow through selected examples, which we trust can serve as blueprints to study the effects of flow on organisms in other systems. Finally, the consequences of flow for microorganisms remain in many cases to be elucidated because experiments are technically challenging. However, new methods, including microfluidics, that allow for the simultaneous manipulation of flow and observation of organisms at the microscale are increasingly available.

In this review, we consider only the tip of the iceberg: Given the diversity of flows and of species, there are a wide array of questions concerning the physiological underpinnings of flowbehavior interactions in microorganisms. How pervasive are passive and active responses to flow, and how do these responses impact microorganism physiology? How are such responses related to the mesmerizing diversity of shapes observed in bacteria, phytoplankton, and larvae? How are complex morphological features such as spines and adaptations such as chain formation related to behavior in flow? Which morphological features of biofilm structures are adapted to flowing environments? What fraction of plankton have evolved active responses to flow, and what are the underlying mechanisms? When active responses to flow are mediated by changes in shape, what are the biological mechanisms underpinning these shape changes? What is the range of timescales in the active responses to flow? Among the many different types of flow encountered by plankton in aquatic environments, have certain types of flow-for example, turbulence-resulted in the evolution of a great prevalence or diversity of flow responses? What are the costs and trade-offs of responding, passively or actively, to flow? To dive into these questions, we must cross the traditional boundaries between physical and biological disciplines and allow the interaction between biophysicists and cell and developmental biologists to flow freely. An ocean of discoveries awaits as we seek to understand the role of these fascinating organisms in the context of the flowing environments they inhabit.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was partly supported by ETH Postdoctoral Fellowships (to both J.D.W. and E.S.), an SNSF PRIMA grant (to E.S.), Fondi 5x1000 Ricerca Sanitaria from the Italian Ministry of

Health (to R.R.), as well as a Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation Marine Microbiology Initiative investigator award (grant 3783 to R.S.) and a grant from the Simons Foundation through the Principles of Microbial Ecosystems (PriME) collaboration (to R.S.). The authors are grateful to Mimi Koehl and Lauren Mullineaux for helpful discussions of invertebrate larval behavior and to scientific editor Russell Naisbit and an anonymous reviewer for suggested revisions.

LITERATURE CITED

- Amato A, Dell'Aquila G, Musacchia F, Annunziata R, Ugarte A, et al. 2017. Marine diatoms change their gene expression profile when exposed to microscale turbulence under nutrient replete conditions. Sci. Rep. 7(1):3826
- Autrusson N, Guglielmini L, Lecuyer S, Rusconi R, Stone HA. 2011. The shape of an elastic filament in a two-dimensional corner flow. *Phys. Fluids* 23(6):063602
- Barton AD, Ward BA, Williams RG, Follows MJ. 2014. The impact of fine-scale turbulence on phytoplankton community structure. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Fluids Environ.* 4(1):34–49
- Bassler BL, Greenberg EP, Stevens AM. 1997. Cross-species induction of luminescence in the quorum-sensing bacterium Vibrio harveyi. J. Bacteriol. 179(12):4043–45
- Bearon RN, Hazel AL. 2015. The trapping in high-shear regions of slender bacteria undergoing chemotaxis in a channel. J. Fluid Mech. 771:R3
- Belas R. 2014. Biofilms, flagella, and mechanosensing of surfaces by bacteria. Trends Microbiol. 22(9):517-27
- Bergkvist J, Klawonn I, Whitehouse MJ, Lavik G, Brüchert V, Ploug H. 2018. Turbulence simultaneously stimulates small- and large-scale CO₂ sequestration by chain-forming diatoms in the sea. *Nat. Commun.* 9(1):3046
- Berke AP, Turner L, Berg HC, Lauga E. 2008. Hydrodynamic attraction of swimming microorganisms by surfaces. Phys. Rev. Lett. 101(3):038102
- Breier RE, Lalescu CC, Waas D, Wilczek M, Mazza MG. 2018. Emergence of phytoplankton patchiness at small scales in mild turbulence. PNAS 115(48):12112–17
- Budelmann BU. 1988. Morphological diversity of equilibrium receptor systems in aquatic invertebrates. In Sensory Biology of Aquatic Animals, ed. J Atema, RR Fay, AN Popper, WN Tavolga, pp. 757–82. New York: Springer
- Casas J, Dangles O. 2010. Physical ecology of fluid flow sensing in arthropods. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 55:505-20
- Chan KYK. 2012. Biomechanics of larval morphology affect swimming: insights from the sand dollars *Den*draster excentricus. Integr. Comp. Biol. 52(4):458–69
- Chengala A, Hondzo M, Mashek DG. 2013. Fluid motion mediates biochemical composition and physiological aspects in the green alga *Dunaliella primolecta* Butcher. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Fluids Environ.* 3(1):74–88
- Conrad JC, Poling-Skutvik R. 2018. Confined flow: consequences and implications for bacteria and biofilms. Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng. 9:175–200
- Coombs S, Van Netten S. 2006. The hydrodynamics and structural mechanics of the lateral line system. In Fish Biomechanics, ed. RE Sahdwick, GV Lauder, pp. 103–39. San Diego: Academic
- Cox CD, Bavi N, Martinac B. 2018. Bacterial mechanosensors. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 80:71-93
- Cózar A, Echevarría F. 2005. Size structure of the planktonic community in microcosms with different levels of turbulence. Sci. Mar. 69(2):187–97
- De Lillo F, Cencini M, Durham WM, Barry M, Stocker R, et al. 2014. Turbulent fluid acceleration generates clusters of gyrotactic microorganisms. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 112(4):044502
- Dekshenieks MM, Donaghay PL, Sullivan JM, Rines JE, Osborn TR, Twardowski MS. 2001. Temporal and spatial occurrence of thin phytoplankton layers in relation to physical processes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 223:61–71
- Dekshenieks MM, Hofmann EE, Klinck JM, Powell EN. 1996. Modeling the vertical distribution of oyster larvae in response to environmental conditions. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 136:97–110
- DiBacco C, Fuchs HL, Pineda J, Helfrich K. 2011. Swimming behavior and velocities of barnacle cyprids in a downwelling flume. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 433:131–48

- Dombrowski C, Cisneros L, Chatkaew S, Goldstein RE, Kessler JO. 2004. Self-concentration and large-scale coherence in bacterial dynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 93(9):098103
- Drescher K, Dunkel J, Nadell CD, van Teeffelen S, Grnja I, et al. 2016. Architectural transitions in Vibrio cholerae biofilms at single-cell resolution. PNAS 113(14):E2066–72
- Drescher K, Shen Y, Bassler BL, Stone HA. 2013. Biofilm streamers cause catastrophic disruption of flow with consequences for environmental and medical systems. PNAS 110(11):4345–50
- Dukowicz AC, Lacy BE, Levine GM. 2007. Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth: a comprehensive review. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 3(2):112–22
- Durham WM, Climent E, Barry M, De Lillo F, Boffetta G, et al. 2013. Turbulence drives microscale patches of motile phytoplankton. *Nat. Commun.* 4:2148
- Durham WM, Kessler JO, Stocker R. 2009. Disruption of vertical motility by shear triggers formation of thin phytoplankton layers. Science 323(5917):1067–70
- Durham WM, Stocker R. 2012. Thin phytoplankton layers: characteristics, mechanisms, and consequences. Annu. Rev. Mar. Sci. 4:177–207
- Emge P, Moeller J, Jang H, Rusconi R, Yawata Y, et al. 2016. Resilience of bacterial quorum sensing against fluid flow. Sci. Rep. 6:33115
- Ezhilan B, Saintillan D. 2015. Transport of a dilute active suspension in pressure-driven channel flow. J. Fluid Mecb. 777:482–522
- Falciatore A, d'Alcalà MR, Croot P, Bowler C. 2000. Perception of environmental signals by a marine diatom. Science 288(5475):2363–66
- Fuchs HL, Gerbi GP, Hunter EJ, Christman AJ, Diez FJ. 2015. Hydrodynamic sensing and behavior by oyster larvae in turbulence and waves. *7. Exp. Biol.* 218:1419–32
- Galy O, Latour-Lambert P, Zrelli K, Ghigo JM, Beloin C, Henry N. 2012. Mapping of bacterial biofilm local mechanics by magnetic microparticle actuation. *Biophys.* 7, 103(6):1400–8
- Garren M, Son K, Raina JB, Rusconi R, Menolascina F, et al. 2014. A bacterial pathogen uses dimethylsulfoniopropionate as a cue to target heat-stressed corals. ISME J. 8(5):999–1007
- Gaylord B, Hodin J, Ferner MC. 2013. Turbulent shear spurs settlement in larval sea urchins. PNAS 110(7):6901-6
- Gordon VD, Wang L. 2019. Bacterial mechanosensing: The force will be with you, always. *J. Cell Sci.* 132(7):jcs227694
- Gustavsson K, Berglund F, Jonsson PR, Mehlig B. 2016. Preferential sampling and small-scale clustering of gyrotactic microswimmers in turbulence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116(10):108104
- Guttenplan SB, Blair KM, Kearns DB. 2010. The EpsE flagellar clutch is bifunctional and synergizes with EPS biosynthesis to promote *Bacillus subtilis* biofilm formation. *PLOS Genet*. 6(12):e1001243
- Häder DP, Faddoul JA, Lebert MI, Richter PE, Schuster MA, et al. 2010. Investigation of gravitaxis and phototaxis in *Euglena gracilis*. In *Advances in Life Sciences*, ed. R Sinha, NK Sharma, AK Rai, pp. 117–31. New Delhi: IK Int. Publ. House
- Hadfield MG. 2011. Biofilms and marine invertebrate larvae: what bacteria produce that larvae use to choose settlement sites. Annu. Rev. Mar. Sci. 3:453–70
- Hadfield MG, Koehl MAR. 2004. Rapid behavioral responses of an invertebrate larva to dissolved settlement cue. *Biol. Bull.* 207(1):28–43
- Hall-Stoodley L, Costerton JW, Stoodley P. 2004. Bacterial biofilms: from the natural environment to infectious diseases. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2(2):95–108
- Hassanpourfard M, Nikakhtari Z, Ghosh R, Das S, Thundat T, et al. 2015. Bacterial floc mediated rapid streamer formation in creeping flows. *Sci. Rep.* 5:13070

Helfrich KR, Pineda J. 2003. Accumulation of particles in propagating fronts. Limnol. Oceanogr: 48(4):1509-20

- Hill J, Kalkanci O, McMurry JL, Koser H. 2007. Hydrodynamic surface interactions enable Escherichia coli to seek efficient routes to swim upstream. Phys. Rev. Lett. 98(6):068101
- Hodin J, Ferner MC, Ng G, Gaylord B. 2018. Turbulence exposure recapitulates desperate behavior in latestage sand dollar larvae. BMC Zool. 3(1):9
- Jeffrey GB. 1922. The motion of ellipsoidal particles immersed in a viscous fluid. Proc. R. Soc. A 102(715):161– 79

- Jonsson PR, André C, Lindegarth M. 1991. Swimming behaviour of marine bivalve larvae in a flume boundarylayer flow: evidence for near-bottom confinement. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 79:67–76
- Kaiser A, Peshkov A, Sokolov A, Ten Hagen B, Löwen H, Aranson IS. 2014. Transport powered by bacterial turbulence. Phys. Rev. Lett. 112(15):158101
- Kannan A, Yang Z, Kim MK, Stone HA, Siryaporn A. 2018. Dynamic switching enables efficient bacterial colonization in flow. PNAS 115(21):5438–43
- Karp-Boss L, Boss E, Jumars PA. 1996. Nutrient fluxes to planktonic osmotrophs in the presence of fluid motion. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 34:71–108
- Kaya T, Koser H. 2012. Direct upstream motility in Escherichia coli. Biophys. 7. 102(7):1514-23
- Kim MK, Ingremeau F, Zhao A, Bassler BL, Stone HA. 2016. Local and global consequences of flow on bacterial quorum sensing. Nat. Microbiol. 1(1):15005
- Kiørboe T. 1993. Turbulence, phytoplankton cell size, and the structure of pelagic food webs. In Advances in Marine Biology, Vol. 29, ed. JHS Blaxter, AJ Southward, pp. 1–72. London: Academic
- Kiørboe T. 2008. A Mechanistic Approach to Plankton Ecology. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- Kiørboe T, Grossart HP, Ploug H, Tang K. 2002. Mechanisms and rates of bacterial colonization of sinking aggregates. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68(8):3996–4006
- Kiørboe T, Jackson GA. 2001. Marine snow, organic solute plumes, and optimal chemosensory behavior of bacteria. *Limnol. Oceanogr*: 46(6):1309–18
- Kirisits MJ, Margolis JJ, Purevdorj-Gage BL, Vaughan B, Chopp DL, et al. 2007. Influence of the hydrodynamic environment on quorum sensing in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *J. Bacteriol.* 189(22):8357– 60
- Klapper I, Rupp CJ, Cargo R, Purvedorj B, Stoodley P. 2002. Viscoelastic fluid description of bacterial biofilm material properties. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 80(3):289–96
- Koehl MAR, Hadfield MG. 2010. Hydrodynamics of larval settlement from a larva's point of view. Integr. Comp. Biol. 50(4):539–51
- Koehl MAR, Reidenbach MA. 2010. Swimming by microscopic organisms in ambient water flow. In Animal Locomotion, ed. G Taylor, MS Triantafyllou, C Tropea, pp. 117–30. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer
- Kundukad B, Seviour T, Liang Y, Rice SA, Kjelleberg S, Doyle PS. 2016. Mechanical properties of the superficial biofilm layer determine the architecture of biofilms. *Soft Matter* 12(26):5718–26
- Lecuyer S, Rusconi R, Shen Y, Forsyth A, Vlamakis H, et al. 2011. Shear stress increases the residence time of adhesion of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Biophys. J*. 100(2):341–50
- Lee WJ, Hase K. 2014. Gut microbiota–generated metabolites in animal health and disease. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 10(6):416–24
- Lele PP, Hosu BG, Berg HC. 2013. Dynamics of mechanosensing in the bacterial flagellar motor. *PNAS* 110(29):11839-44
- Locsei JT, Pedley TJ. 2009. Run and tumble chemotaxis in a shear flow: the effect of temporal comparisons, persistence, rotational diffusion, and cell shape. *Bull. Math. Biol.* 71(5):1089–116
- Luchsinger RH, Bergersen B, Mitchell JG. 1999. Bacterial swimming strategies and turbulence. *Biophys. J.* 77(5):2377–86
- Marcos Fu HC, Powers TR, Stocker R. 2009. Separation of microscale chiral objects by shear flow. Phys. Rev. Lett. 102(15):158103
- Martínez-García R, Nadell CD, Hartmann R, Drescher K, Bonachela JA. 2018. Cell adhesion and fluid flow jointly initiate genotype spatial distribution in biofilms. *PLOS Comput. Biol.* 14(4):e1006094
- Meng Y, Li Y, Galvani CD, Hao G, Turner JN, et al. 2005. Upstream migration of Xylella fastidiosa via pilusdriven twitching motility. J. Bacteriol. 187(16):5560–67
- Miki K, Clapham DE. 2013. Rheotaxis guides mammalian sperm. Curr. Biol. 23(6):443-52
- Miyata M, Ryu WS, Berg HC. 2002. Force and velocity of *Mycoplasma mobile* gliding. *J. Bacteriol.* 184(7):1827–31
- Mogami Y, Ishii J, Baba SA. 2001. Theoretical and experimental dissection of gravity-dependent mechanical orientation in gravitactic microorganisms. *Biol. Bull.* 201(1):26–33
- Molaei M, Barry M, Stocker R, Sheng J. 2014. Failed escape: Solid surfaces prevent tumbling of *Escherichia coli*. Phys. Rev. Lett. 113(6):068103

- Moline MA, Benoit-Bird KJ, Robbins IC, Schroth-Miller M, Waluk CM, Zelenke B. 2010. Integrated measurements of acoustical and optical thin layers II: horizontal length scales. Cont. Shelf Res. 30(1):29–38
- Musielak MM, Karp-Boss L, Jumars PA, Fauci LJ. 2009. Nutrient transport and acquisition by diatom chains in a moving fluid. *J. Fluid Mecb.* 638:401–21
- Nadell CD, Ricaurte D, Yan J, Drescher K, Bassler BL. 2017. Flow environment and matrix structure interact to determine spatial competition in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *eLife* 6:e21855
- North EW, Schlag Z, Hood RR, Li M, Zhong L, et al. 2008. Vertical swimming behavior influences the dispersal of simulated oyster larvae in a coupled particle-tracking and hydrodynamic model of Chesapeake Bay. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 359:99–115
- O'Loughlin CT, Miller LC, Siryaporn A, Drescher K, Semmelhack MF, Bassler BL. 2013. A quorum-sensing inhibitor blocks *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* virulence and biofilm formation. *PNAS* 110(44):17981–86
- Pahlow M, Riebesell U, Wolf-Gladrow DA. 1997. Impact of cell shape and chain formation on nutrient acquisition by marine diatoms. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 42(8):1660–72
- Pappelbaum KI, Gorzelanny C, Grässle S, Suckau J, Laschke MW, et al. 2013. Ultralarge von Willebrand factor fibers mediate luminal *Staphylococcus aureus* adhesion to an intact endothelial cell layer under shear stress. *Circulation* 128(1):50–59
- Paul E, Ochoa JC, Pechaud Y, Liu Y, Liné A. 2012. Effect of shear stress and growth conditions on detachment and physical properties of biofilms. *Water Res.* 46(17):5499–508
- Pepper RE, Jaffe JS, Variano E, Koehl MAR. 2015. Zooplankton in flowing water near benthic communities encounter rapidly fluctuating velocity gradients and accelerations. *Mar. Biol.* 162(10):1939–54
- Persat A, Inclan YF, Engel JN, Stone HA, Gitai Z. 2015. Type IV pili mechanochemically regulate virulence factors in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. PNAS 112(24):7563–68
- Persat A, Stone HA, Gitai Z. 2014. The curved shape of *Caulobacter crescentus* enhances surface colonization in flow. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3824
- Peters F, Arin L, Marrasé C, Berdalet E, Sala MM. 2006. Effects of small-scale turbulence on the growth of two diatoms of different size in a phosphorus-limited medium. J. Mar. Syst. 61(3–4):134–48
- Roberts AM. 1970. Geotaxis in motile micro-organisms. J. Exp. Biol. 53(3):687-99
- Rodesney CA, Roman B, Dhamani N, Cooley BJ, Touhami A, Gordon VD. 2017. Mechanosensing of shear by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* leads to increased levels of the cyclic-di-GMP signal initiating biofilm development. *PNAS* 23:5906–11
- Rupp CJ, Fux CA, Stoodley P. 2005. Viscoelasticity of Staphylococcus aureus biofilms in response to fluid shear allows resistance to detachment and facilitates rolling migration. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71(4):2175– 78
- Rusconi R, Guasto JS, Stocker R. 2014. Bacterial transport suppressed by fluid shear. Nat. Phys. 10(3):212-17
- Rusconi R, Lecuyer S, Autrusson N, Guglielmini L, Stone HA. 2011. Secondary flow as a mechanism for the formation of biofilm streamers. *Biophys.* 7. 100(6):1392–99
- Rusconi R, Lecuyer S, Guglielmini L, Stone HA. 2010. Laminar flow around corners triggers the formation of biofilm streamers. J. R. Soc. Interface 7(50):1293–99
- Ryan JP, McManus MA, Paduan JD, Chavez FP. 2008. Phytoplankton thin layers caused by shear in frontal zones of a coastal upwelling system. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 354:21–34
- Salek MM, Jones SM, Martinuzzi RJ. 2009. The influence of flow cell geometry related shear stresses on the distribution, structure and susceptibility of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* 01 biofilms. *Biofouling* 25(8):711–25
- Secchi E, Rusconi R, Buzzaccaro S, Salek MM, Smriga S, et al. 2016. Intermittent turbulence in flowing bacterial suspensions. J. R. Soc. Interface 13(119):20160175
- Sengupta A, Carrara F, Stocker R. 2017. Phytoplankton can actively diversify their migration strategy in response to turbulent cues. *Nature* 543(7646):555–58
- Shapiro OH, Fernandez VI, Garren M, Guasto JS, Debaillon-Vesque FP, et al. 2014. Vortical ciliary flows actively enhance mass transport in reef corals. PNAS 111(37):13391–96
- Shen Y, Siryaporn A, Lecuyer S, Gitai Z, Stone HA. 2012. Flow directs surface-attached bacteria to twitch upstream. *Biophys. 7.* 103(1):146–51
- Siryaporn A, Kim MK, Shen Y, Stone HA, Gitai Z. 2015. Colonization, competition, and dispersal of pathogens in fluid flow networks. *Curr. Biol.* 25(9):1201–7

- Siryaporn A, Kuchma SL, O'Toole GA, Gitai Z. 2014. Surface attachment induces Pseudomonas aeruginosa virulence. PNAS 111(47):16860–65
- Son K, Menolascina F, Stocker R. 2016. Speed-dependent chemotactic precision in marine bacteria. *PNAS* 113(31):8624–29
- Stewart PS. 2003. Diffusion in biofilms. 7. Bacteriol. 185(5):1485-91
- Stocker R, Seymour JR. 2012. Ecology and physics of bacterial chemotaxis in the ocean. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 76(4):792–812
- Stocker R, Seymour JR, Samadani A, Hunt DE, Polz MF. 2008. Rapid chemotactic response enables marine bacteria to exploit ephemeral microscale nutrient patches. PNAS 105(11):4209–14
- Stoodley P. 2016. Biofilms: Flow disrupts communication. Nat. Microbiol. 1:15012
- Stoodley P, Cargo R, Rupp CJ, Wilson S, Klapper I. 2002. Biofilm material properties as related to shearinduced deformation and detachment phenomena. *7. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 29(6):361–67
- Stoodley P, Dodds I, Boyle JD, Lappin-Scott HM. 1999. Influence of hydrodynamics and nutrients on biofilm structure. J. Appl. Microbiol. 85:19–28
- Sullivan JM, Donaghay PL, Rines JE. 2010. Coastal thin layer dynamics: consequences to biology and optics. Cont. Shelf Res. 30(1):50–65
- Sycuro LK, Wyckoff TJ, Biboy J, Born P, Pincus Z, et al. 2012. Multiple peptidoglycan modification networks modulate *Helicobacter pylori*'s cell shape, motility, and colonization potential. *PLOS Pathog.* 8(3):e1002603
- Tamburri MN, Zimmer-Faust RK, Tamplin ML. 1992. Natural sources and properties of chemical inducers mediating settlement of oyster larvae: a re-examination. *Biol. Bull.* 183(2):327–38
- Taylor JR, Stocker R. 2012. Trade-offs of chemotactic foraging in turbulent water. Science 338(6107):675–79
- Thomas WE, Vogel V, Sokurenko E. 2008. Biophysics of catch bonds. Annu. Rev. Biophys. 37:399-416
- Thomen P, Robert J, Monmeyran A, Bitbol AF, Douarche C, Henry N. 2017. Bacterial biofilm under flow: first a physical struggle to stay, then a matter of breathing. *PLOS ONE* 12(4):e0175197
- Tung CK, Ardon F, Roy A, Koch DL, Suarez SS, Wu M. 2015. Emergence of upstream swimming via a hydrodynamic transition. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 114(10):108102
- Turner EJ, Zimmer-Faust RK, Palmer MA, Luckenbach M, Pentchef ND. 1994. Settlement of oyster (Crassostrea virginica) larvae: effects of water flow and a water-soluble chemical cue. Limnol. Oceanogr: 39(7):1579–93
- Vogel S. 1996. Life in Moving Fluids. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- Weaver WM, Dharmaraja S, Milisavljevic V, Di Carlo D. 2011. The effects of shear stress on isolated receptor– ligand interactions of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and human plasma fibrinogen using molecularly patterned microfluidics. *Lab Chip* 11(5):883–89
- Welch J, Forward R. 2001. Flood tide transport of blue crab, Callinectes sapidus, postlarvae: behavioral responses to salinity and turbulence. Mar. Biol. 139(5):911–18
- Wheeler JD, Chan KYK, Anderson EJ, Mullineaux LS. 2016. Ontogenetic changes in larval swimming and orientation of pre-competent sea urchin *Arbacia punctulata* in turbulence. *7. Exp. Biol.* 219(9):1303–10
- Wheeler JD, Helfrich KR, Anderson EJ, Mullineaux LS. 2015. Isolating the hydrodynamic triggers of the dive response in eastern oyster larvae. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 60(4):1332–43
- Wiederhold ML, Sheridan CE, Smith NK. 1989. Function of molluscan statocysts. In Origin, Evolution, and Modern Aspects of Biomineralization in Plants and Animals, ed. RE Crick, pp. 393–408. Boston, MA: Springer
- Wioland H, Lushi E, Goldstein RE. 2016. Directed collective motion of bacteria under channel confinement. New 7. Phys. 18(7):27–30
- Yawata Y, Nguyen J, Stocker R, Rusconi R. 2016. Microfluidic studies of biofilm formation in dynamic environments. J. Bacteriol. 198:2589–95
- Yen J. 2000. Life in transition: balancing inertial and viscous forces by planktonic copepods. *Biol. Bull.* 198(2):213–24
- Young KD. 2006. The selective value of bacterial shape. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 70(3):660-703
- Zaferani M, Cheong SH, Abbaspourrad A. 2018. Rheotaxis-based separation of sperm with progressive motility using a microfluidic corral system. PNAS 115(33):8272–77

Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology

Volume 35, 2019

Contents

Cell Motility and Cytokinesis: From Mysteries to Molecular Mechanisms in Five Decades <i>Thomas D. Pollard</i>
Cellular Logistics: Unraveling the Interplay Between Microtubule Organization and Intracellular Transport <i>Mithila Burute and Lukas C. Kapitein</i>
Spoiled for Choice: Diverse Endocytic Pathways Function at the Cell Surface Joseph Jose Thottacherry, Mugdha Sathe, Chaitra Prabhakara, and Satyajit Mayor55
Lipid Dynamics at Contact Sites Between the Endoplasmic Reticulum and Other Organelles <i>Tamas Balla, Yeun Ju Kim, Alejandro Alvarez-Prats, and Joshua Pemberton</i>
Curving Cells Inside and Out: Roles of BAR Domain Proteins in Membrane Shaping and Its Cellular Implications <i>Mijo Simunovic, Emma Evergren, Andrew Callan-Jones, and Patricia Bassereau</i> 111
Coatopathies: Genetic Disorders of Protein Coats Esteban C. Dell'Angelica and Juan S. Bonifacino
A Tale of Two States: Normal and Transformed, With and Without Rigidity Sensing <i>Michael Sheetz</i>
Whole-Cell Models and Simulations in Molecular Detail Michael Feig and Yuji Sugita 191
Not Just Going with the Flow: The Effects of Fluid Flow on Bacteria and Plankton Jeanette D. Wheeler, Eleonora Secchi, Roberto Rusconi, and Roman Stocker
Developmental Responses to Water and Salinity in Root Systems José R. Dinneny

Mechanics of Anteroposterior Axis Formation in Vertebrates <i>Alessandro Mongera, Arthur Michaut, Charlène Guillot, Fengzhu Xiong,</i> <i>and Olivier Pourquié</i>
A Polarizing Issue: Diversity in the Mechanisms Underlying Apico-Basolateral Polarization In Vivo <i>Melissa A. Pickett, Victor F. Naturale, and Jessica L. Feldman</i>
Plant Cell Polarity: Creating Diversity from Inside the Box Andrew Muroyama and Dominique Bergmann 309
Non-Antibody-Secreting Functions of B Cells and Their Contribution to Autoimmune Disease <i>Andrew Getahun and John C. Cambier</i>
Low-Affinity Binding Sites and the Transcription Factor Specificity Paradox in Eukaryotes Judith F. Kribelbauer, Chaitanya Rastogi, Harmen J. Bussemaker, and Richard S. Mann
Shared Transcriptional Control of Innate Lymphoid Cell and Dendritic Cell Development <i>Prachi Bagadia, Xiao Huang, Tian-Tian Liu, and Kenneth M. Murphy</i>
Plant Noncoding RNAs: Hidden Players in Development and Stress Responses Yu Yu, Yuchan Zhang, Xuemei Chen, and Yueqin Chen
Cell Reprogramming: The Many Roads to Success Begüm Aydin and Esteban O. Mazzoni
Diverse Cellular Roles of Autophagy Hideaki Morishita and Noboru Mizushima
Autophagy in Neurons Andrea K.H. Stavoe and Erika L.F. Holzbaur
Multitasking: Dual Leucine Zipper–Bearing Kinases in Neuronal Development and Stress Management <i>Yishi Jin and Binhai Zheng</i>
Developmental Cell Death in the Cerebral Cortex Fong Kuan Wong and Oscar Marín
Architecture and Dynamics of the Neuronal Secretory Network Matthew J. Kennedy and Cyril Hanus
Comparing Sensory Organs to Define the Path for Hair Cell Regeneration Nicolas Denans, Sungmin Baek, and Tatjana Piotrowski

Development and Cell Biology of the Blood-Brain Barrier Urs H. Langen, Swathi Ayloo, and Chenghua Gu
Neurovascular Interactions in the Nervous System Marta Segarra, Maria R. Aburto, Jasmin Hefendehl, and Amparo Acker-Palmer
The Fly Brain AtlasLouis K. Scheffer and Ian A. Meinertzhagen637
Light-Sheet Microscopy and Its Potential for Understanding Developmental Processes <i>Yinan Wan, Katie McDole, and Philipp J. Keller</i>
Expansion Microscopy: Scalable and Convenient Super-Resolution Microscopy Paul W. Tillberg and Fei Chen

Indexes

Cumulative Index of Contri	buting Authors, [†]	Volumes 31–35	
----------------------------	------------------------------	---------------	--

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/cellbio